



Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2007

Children With Special Needs Oral Health Quality of Life Survey

Kristin Elizabeth Nelson Virginia Commonwealth University

Follow this and additional works at: http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Pediatric Dentistry and Pedodontics Commons</u>

© The Author

Downloaded from http://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/1137

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

© Kristin Elizabeth Nelson 2007

All Rights Reserved

CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS ORAL HEALTH QUALITY OF LIFE SURVEY

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science at Virginia Commonwealth University.

by

KRISTIN ELIZABETH NELSON B.S., Denison University, 2001 D.M.D., University of Kentucky, 2005

Director: TEGWYN H. BRICKHOUSE D.D.S., PH.D. ASSISTANT PROFESSOR, DEPARTMENT OF PEDIATRIC DENTISTRY

Virginia Commonwealth University Richmond, Virginia June 2007

Acknowledgement

To my mentors, Drs. Tegwyn H. Brickhouse, Holly C. Lewis, John H. Unkel, Martin L. Walton, and Michael D. Webb, thank you for teaching me the art of pediatric dentistry. Drs. Al M. Best, Tegwyn H. Brickhouse and Holly C. Lewis, thank you for guiding me through this thesis experience. To my parents, William and Cynthia Nelson, and brother, Jeffrey, thank you for your love and support throughout all of my endeavors.

Table of Contents

Page	
Acknowledgementsii	Acknowle
List of Tablesiii	List of Ta
Abstractvi	Abstract
Chapter	Chapter
1 Background and Significance1	1
Oral Health of Children with Special Health Care Needs1	
Oral Health Related Quality of Life	
Parental - Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ)4	
2 Materials and Methods7	2
Patient Sample and Design7	
Assessment Protocol and Procedure7	
P-CPQ Measurements8	
Special Health Care Condition9	
Statistical Analysis10	
3 Results11	3
Demographics and Descriptive Analyses11	
Oral Health Quality of Life Dimensions12	

Oral Symptoms, Functional Limitations, Emotional Well-being,	
Family Well-being	12
Overall Oral Health and Well-being	12
4 Discussion	15
Oral Health Related Quality of Life	15
Study Limitations	19
5 Conclusions	20
References	21
Appendices	24

A Parental - Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ)24

List of Tables and Figures

v

Figure 1: Survey Item Reduction	30
Table 1: Description of Subjects	31
Table 2: Item Summary.	32
Table 3: Summary of Domain Scores.	33
Figure 2: Relationship between Overall Health of Child's Mouth and Two Domains	34
Figure 3: Relationship between Well – being and Two Domains.	35

Abstract

CHILDREN WITH SPECIAL NEEDS ORAL HEALTH QUALITY OF LIFE

SURVEY

By Kristin Elizabeth Nelson, D.M.D., M.S.D.

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science of Dentistry at Virginia Commonwealth University.

Virginia Commonwealth University, 2007

Major Director: Tegwyn H. Brickhouse, D.D.S., Ph.D. Department of Pediatric Dentistry

Purpose: The purpose of this study was to asses the oral health quality of life of children with special health care needs. This study examined the effects of oral health conditions on general well-being and family life of these children. A secondary aim of the study was to investigate correlations between specific health care conditions, gender, and age of these children and their global ratings of oral health and well-being.

Methods: This study was a cross-sectional design with subjects who are members of the Virginia Care Connection for Children program, based at Virginia

Commonwealth University. The oral health quality of life was measured using a shortened version of the Parental – Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ). The questionnaire includes measures of global ratings of oral health and well-being as well as effects of oral health on domains of oral symptoms, functional limitations, emotional well-being, and family well-being/parental distress. The parents/caregivers were asked to report on these domains as they related to their child's oral health within the past 3 months. Additional survey items included questions regarding demographic factors of the child (age, sex, special health care conditions) and parent (i.e. mother, father, or other).

Results: The survey was sent out to 429 individuals and 137 usable surveys were returned for a response rate of 32%. Special health care conditions of the children were categorized and reported as follows: 1) Neurodevelopmental/Genetic/Neuromuscular disorders, N=69 (59.13%); 2) Respiratory disorders, N=12 (10.43%); 3) Cardiac disorders, N=5 (4.35%); 4) Craniofacial disorders, N=12 (10.43%); 5) Metabolic disorders, N=15 (13.04%); 6) Psychological disorders, N=3 (2.61%). In general, caregivers reported the children to have a fair to good oral health quality of life in each domain. It was determined that two of the domains, functional limitations and emotional well-being, were not correlated with the child's oral health or well-being. However, the oral symptoms and family well-being/parental distress domains did have a positive correlation (p = 0.0340 and p = 0.0420, respectively). **Conclusions:** In a population of children with special health care needs it appears that oral symptoms and family well-being outweighed functional limitations and emotional well-being.

BACKGROUND AND SIGNIFICANCE

Oral Health of Children with Special Health Care Needs

Pediatric dentists have traditionally been viewed by the dental community as the specialty group best prepared to treat children with special health care needs (CSHCN), including children with cerebral palsy, developmental delays, and those who are medically compromised.^{1, 2} This may be due the fact that graduate pediatric residency programs provide formal training in behavior management techniques and these children often present with various cognitive and physical limitations.² It has been wellestablished that dental care is the leading unmet health care need among CSHCN, with more than three quarters of a million CSHCN nationally being unable to obtain needed dental care.³ The US Surgeon General has identified access to care as a major issue contributing to the unmet dental care needs of these children.⁴ In addition, children with special health care needs are at increased risk for dental disease.⁵ Neuromuscular, acquired, or genetic disorders often cause alterations or defects in skeletal and facial structures, tooth number and morphology, eruption pattern, and malocclusion.⁵ Children with special health care needs often require medications that are known to cause intrinsic and extrinsic tooth discoloration, gingival enlargement, and xerostomia.⁵

Further, medications containing sweeteners can cause an increased incidence of caries in this population.⁵ It is generally agreed among dental health care providers that children with special health care needs have higher rates of poor oral hygiene, gingivitis, and periodontitis.⁵

Little research has been done as to the characteristics and quality of life of CSHCN who have unmet dental care needs.³ As a specialty group, if we are to provide the needed dental treatment in a meaningful and compassionate manner, it is essential for practitioners to have some appreciation for how the oral health conditions of CSHCN affect their general well-being and quality of life.⁶ In addition, we must also recognize how the oral health quality of life affects the family and caregivers of these children. Parental/caregiver perceptions of children's oral health-related quality of life is especially important for CSHCN due to the fact that many of these patients face limitations in their cognitive capacities and communication skills.⁷ These families often face great emotional and financial strain in trying to gain access to all the necessary health services for their children.

The medical field has begun to recognize that dental care should be an integral part of coordinated care for CSHCN.³ **Care Connection for Children (CCC)**, a partner in the Virginia children's special health needs network and sponsored by the Virginia Department of Health, helps to coordinate health care and alleviate issues of access to care for children with special health care needs.⁸ The CCC consists of a statewide network of regional programs that provides health care services, community support and resources to children with special health care needs.⁸ Professional care

coordinators work closely with the children and their families to coordinate all services offered by the various health care providers for CSHCN.⁸ In central Virginia, there are over 400 families of CSHCN that participate in the CCC program.

Oral Health-Related Quality of Life

As mentioned previously, few studies have been conducted to assess oral healthrelated quality of life of CSHCN. Health-related quality of life perspectives can be very helpful when assessing outcomes of various diseases and disorders because they have the advantage of being multi-dimensional, considering symptoms, physical functioning, and emotional and social well-being.⁹ Oral health-related quality of life (OHRQoL) measures document the functional and psychosocial outcomes of oral disorders.¹⁰ It is now generally accepted in the research community that they are essential as clinical indicators when assessing the oral health of individuals and populations, making clinical decisions, and evaluating dental interventions, services, and programs.¹⁰ Jokovic et al developed the only measure currently available to determine OHRQoL for children.¹¹ It is a measure of the impact of oral and orofacial conditions on the functional, emotional, and social well-being of children of different ages and developmental differences.¹⁰ Further, it was intended to conform to contemporary concepts of child health as "...the physical, emotional, and social functioning of the child and when indicated, his or her family..." as defined by the American Academy of Pediatrics.^{9, 10,12} In order to satisfy all of these intentions, the OHROoL measure was developed with several components

including a Parental Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ), a Family Impact Scale, and three age-specific Child Perception Questionnaires (CPQ ages 6-7, CPQ ages 8-10, CPQ ages 11-14).⁹ In the present study, oral health quality of life of CSHCN participating in the Care Connection for Children program will be assessed using a shortened version of the Child Oral Health Parental-Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire which includes items from the Family Impact Scale. The questionnaire includes measures of global ratings of oral health as well as effects of oral health on domains of oral symptoms, functional limitations, emotional well-being, and family well-being/parental distress.

Parental – Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ)

According to Locker et al, there are two broad concepts that need to be addressed with respect to outcomes of oral and oro-facial conditions in children: 1) the child's oral health–related quality of life and 2) the impact of the child's condition on the family.¹² In determining OHQoL in children, Filstrup et al stated that it is often necessary to use a "proxy rater" when the child is either unable or unwilling to complete the oral health-related QOL measure.¹³ Such is the case with many children with special health care needs. In addition, adults are generally responsible for and make decisions about their child's health.¹⁴ Therefore, assessing parents' perceptions about oral health problems, including oral symptoms, functional limitations, and effects on emotional and social wellbeing is imperative.¹⁴ Evidence also shows that dental disease in children results in lost workdays for caregivers as well as time and money spent in accessing dental care.¹⁴ Thus,

the impact of dental disease in children on their caregivers and families are also important to measure as part of assessing OHRQoL in children.¹⁴

Jokovic et al developed the P-CPQ (Parental- Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire) to measure parental or caregiver perceptions of a child's oral healthrelated quality of life and the impact of the child's condition on the family.¹¹ The P-CPQ questionnaire was created for use in clinical trials and evaluation research. As mentioned previously, the four domains assessed in the P-CPQ are: oral symptoms, functional limitations, emotional well-being and social well-being.

The Family Impact Scale was developed by Locker et al as one component of the Child Oral Health-Related Quality of Life Instrument in addition to the Parental-Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire.¹² Because of the specific aims of the P-CPQ stated above, the Family Impact Scale is included in the parental-caregiver questionnaire. There are several reasons why a Family Impact Scale is an essential component of child health-related quality of life measures.¹² These reasons include: (1) the central role played by the family in child health; (2) the likelihood that chronic illness in a child will impact on the family to some degree; (3) the fact that health care interventions often address parental needs and concerns as well as the child's; and (5) the fact that parental reports of a child's health may be influenced by the degree to which the parent is physically or emotionally affected by the child's condition.¹²

The purpose of this study was to asses the oral health quality of life of children with special health care needs enrolled in the CCC program using the Parental Perceptions Questionnaire (P-CPQ).^{11, 12} This study examined the effects of oral health conditions on general well-being and family life of these children. A secondary aim of the study was to investigate correlations between specific health care conditions, gender, and age of these children and their and global ratings of oral health and wellbeing.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Sample and Design

This study was a cross-sectional survey design with subjects who are members of the Central Care Connection for Children program, based at Virginia Commonwealth University. Incentives for participants in the survey included \$10 Wal-Mart gift certificates given to the parents of CSHCN who completed and returned the Child Oral Health Parent-Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire.

Assessment Protocol and Procedure

The inclusion criterion was participation in the Virginia Care Connection for Children Program. The subjects were parents/caregivers of children with special health care needs participating in this program. A total of 429 study subjects were mailed the modified P-CPQ questionnaire along with two separate self-addressed stamped envelopes to the Virginia Commonwealth University Department of Pediatric Dentistry. One envelope was included in which to return the survey, and a second envelope included to return a mailing address so that \$10 incentive gift cards could be returned to the participants without violating confidentiality of the participant. A 2-month waiting period was allowed for completion and return of the surveys. Incentive cards were mailed to participants upon return of the survey. This study was approved for human subjects by the Virginia Commonwealth University Institutional Review Board.

P-CPQ Measurements

The oral health quality of life of CSHCN participating in the Virginia CCC program was measured using the Parent-Caregiver Perceptions Questionnaire, including items from the Family Impact scale. There were four domains tested to ascertain oral health quality of life: oral symptoms, functional limitations, emotional well-being and family well-being/parental distress. Additional survey items included questions regarding global ratings of oral health and well-being as well as demographic factors of the child (age, sex, special health care condition) and parent (i.e. mother, father, or other). Figure 1 illustrates an item reduction of the questionnaire.

The performance of the questionnaires has been tested for validity and reliability.^{9, 10} The Cronbach's alpha for internal consistency and intraclass correlation coefficient for test-retest reliability for the P-CPQ were 0.94 and 0.85, respectively.¹¹ The Cronbach's alpha and intraclass correlation coefficients for the Family Impact Scale were 0.83 and 0.80, respectively.¹² These results suggest that both the P-CPQ and Family Impact Scale are valid and reliable.^{11, 12} The modified P-CPQ version used in the current study consists of 26 items, including 7 questions from the Family Impact Scale. A sample of the oral health knowledge and quality of life questionnaire has been included in Appendix A.

The questionnaires ask about the frequency of various tooth-related events "in the past 3 months." The mean and standard deviation (SD) of the item responses are scored from the following coding of the responses: 1 = never, 2 = once or twice, 3 = sometimes, 4 = often, 5 = everyday or almost everyday. The "don't know" response is not included in the mean and SD but is included in the percentages for each response.

Overall oral health-related quality of life was also assessed on a 5-point response

scale by the following 2 questions:

• "How would you rate the health of your child's teeth, lips, jaws and mouth?"

Excellent (1) Very good (2) Good (3) Fair (4) Poor (5)

• "How much is your child's overall well-being affected by the condition of his/her teeth, lips, jaws or mouth?"

Not at all (1) Very little (2) Some (3) A lot (4) Very much (5)

Special Health Care Condition

The special health care condition of the child was asked to be reported on the survey by the parent/caregiver along with gender and age. Following compilation of the survey results, the special health care conditions were grouped into 6 categories of condition for purposes of statistical analysis. The categories of condition were grouped as follows: (1) Neurodevelopmental/Genetic/Neuromuscular Disorders (2) Respiratory

Disorders (3) Cardiac Disease/Disorders (4) Craniofacial Disorders (5) Metabolic Disorders and (6) Psychological Disorders. If more than one health condition was listed by the parent/caregiver, the child was categorized according to the most severe condition.

Statistical Analysis

Descriptive statistics were used to summarize the responses to the survey questions. A multivariate analysis of variance was used to identify the major relationships between the overall oral health and well-being questions and the possible predictor variables: gender, age, condition category (6 levels), and the four domain scores. Multiple regression was then used to describe the significant predictors.

RESULTS

Demographics and Descriptive Analyses

The survey was sent to 429 individuals and 137 usable surveys were returned for a response rate of 32%. Of the caregivers surveyed, 114 (83.21%) were mothers, 11 were fathers (8.03%), and 12 (8.76%) were reported as "other" (i.e. legal guardian, grandparent, etc.). The reported gender of the CSHCN was 73 male (55.3%) and 59 female (44.7%). Special health care conditions of the children were categorized and reported as follows: 1) Neurodevelopmental/Genetic/Neuromuscular disorders, N=69 (59.13%); 2) Respiratory disorders, N=12 (10.43%); 3) Cardiac disorders, N=5 (4.35%); 4) Craniofacial disorders, N=12 (10.43%); 5) Metabolic disorders, N=15 (13.04%); 6) Psychological disorders, N=3 (2.61%). The mean age reported for the child population was 10 years (SD = 5.8, range = 1 to 21). The description of the survey subjects is shown in Table 1 along with responses to the overall oral health and well-being questions. The overall oral health was moderately correlated with the wellbeing of the child (r = 0.33, p < .0001).

Oral Health Quality of Life Dimensions

Oral Symptoms, Functional Limitations, Emotional Well-being, Family Well-Being

For each dimension, parents reported perceived oral health symptoms experienced by their child within the last 3 months. Frequencies of each response are summarized in Table 2. Each of the four domains is scored by averaging the items in that domain. The summary of each of the four domain scores is shown in Table 3. All of the domain averages were nearly two, (the "once or twice" response) ranging from (1.65-2.06) showing that in general, caregivers were reporting the children to have a fair to good oral health quality of life in each domain. All of the domains were significantly correlated to one another. This indicates that functional deficits in one area are related to those in other domains.

Overall Oral Health and Well-Being

In order to determine the relationship of overall oral health and well-being (the first two items of the questionnaire) to patient characteristics and symptom domains, a MANOVA was used. The MANOVA used the two overall oral health and well-being items as dependent variables, and the following were included as independent variables: gender, age, condition category (6 levels), and the four domain scores. The results indicated that there was no relationship with gender (p = 0.78), age (p = 0.62), or condition category (p = 0.21). Additionally, two of the domains were not related to the overall scores; functional limitations (p = 0.52) and emotional wellbeing (p = 0.31).

Two of the domains were related to the overall scores; oral symptoms (p = 0.0340) and parental distress and family function (p = 0.0420). These two domains were used in follow-up analyses to explain the relationships with the overall scores.

First, the relationship to the rating of "the health of your child's teeth, lips, jaw and mouth" was considered. A final multiple regression indicated that oral symptoms (p = 0.0025) and parental distress (p = 0.0218) are both related to the overall health of a child's mouth (R-square =19%). Figure 2 shows the relationship between oral symptoms, parental distress and the five levels of overall oral health. It indicates that the worse the health of the child's mouth, the worse the oral symptoms and parental distress. A stepwise multiple regression indicated that there were three items in these two domains that accounted for all of the correlation to the health of a child's mouth: Question 4 - "bleeding gums" (p = 0.0280), Question 6 – "bad breath"(p = 0.0017) and Question 22 – parents "feeling guilty" (p = 0.0074). These three items accounted for 25% of all the variability in the overall rating of the "health of your child's teeth, lips, jaw, and mouth."

The second question asked, "How much is your child's overall well-being affected by the condition of his/her teeth, lips, jaws or mouth?" A multiple regression indicated that only oral symptoms (p = 0.0043) and parental distress (p = 0.0148) were significantly related to overall well-being (R-square = 19%). The relationship between oral symptoms, parental distress and the five levels of well-being is shown in Figure 3. Similar to the relationship between overall oral health, this figure indicates that general well-being decreases as oral symptoms and parental distress increase. A stepwise multiple regression indicated that there were three items in these two domains that accounted for all of the correlation to the child's general well-being: Question 6 - "bad breath" (p = 0.0285), Question 22 – parents "feeling guilty" (p = 0.0035) and Question 24 – parents "had less time for yourself or the family" (p = 0.0234). These three items accounted for 20.4% of all the variability in the question of overall well-being

DISCUSSION

Oral Health Related Quality of Life

This study utilized the P-CPQ measure of children's oral health-related quality of life to emphasize the importance of oral health quality of life among a population of children with special health care needs and its impact on their families, daily lives, and general well-being. Overall, 13.97% (n=19) of parents/caregivers rated the health of their child's mouth as *excellent*, 19.12% (n=26) responded *very good*, 34.56% (n=47) responded *good*, 25% (n=34) responded *fair*, and 7.35% (n=10) responded *poor*.

The recent interest in assessing the effects of oral health problems on individuals' physical, mental, and social health and well-being reflects a move within dentistry towards a more holistic model of health.¹⁴ However, very few instruments have been developed to assess OHRQoL in children and adolescents. Jokovic and Locker were among the first to develop such an instrument for children ages 6-14. Most recently, Pahel et al developed the Early Childhood Oral Health Impact Scale (ECOHIS). The ECOHIS was created by Pahel et al in order to have a valid and reliable instrument to measure the impact of oral health problems and related treatment experiences on the quality of life of preschool children (ages 3 to 5) and their families.¹⁴ Although the ECOHIS is based on the P-CPQ measure, Jokovic and Locker originally developed their instrument to be used for children ages 6-14 and their caregivers. The overall objective of the ECOHIS instrument was to "develop a short instrument to be completed by the child's parent or primary caregiver for use in epidemiological surveys to discriminate between children with and without dental disease."¹⁴ Although their study population was not limited to CSHCN, they found that more parents rated their child's general health as 'excellent or very good' compared to their dental health (88.6% vs. 50.9%).¹⁴ Our study differed slightly in that 67.65% of parents rated the health of the child's mouth *excellent/very good/good*, while 52.94% stated that the oral health affected the child's well-being *some*, *a lot*, *or very much*. Thus, the majority of parents surveyed felt that oral health did have an impact on the child's well-being, and the ratings of their child's oral health was fairly high.

Baens-Ferrer et al conducted a study comparing parental perceptions of oral health-related quality of life for CSHCN before and after oral rehabilitation under general anesthesia.⁵ This study questioned parents on oral symptoms, daily life problems, and parental concerns. Coincident with the findings of this study, they reported that family caregivers of CSHCN report a variety of oral symptoms, daily life problems, and parental concerns attributable to their child's oral health that impact that child's and family's QOL.⁵ The most frequently reported symptoms in their study prior to oral rehabilitation under general anesthesia were spontaneous toothache and pain with hot/cold temperatures (oral symptoms), difficulty eating and sleeping (daily life

problems), and worrying about eating and nutrition (parental concerns).⁵ Frequency of symptoms in this study are reported in Table 2.

In the current study, the four domains of oral symptoms, functional limitations, emotional well-being, and family well-being/parental distress were compared to the two questions of overall oral health and well-being. It was determined that two of the domains, functional limitations and emotional well-being, were not correlated with the child's oral health or well-being. However, the oral symptoms and family wellbeing/parental distress domains did have a positive correlation (p = 0.0340 and p =0.0420 respectively). Thus, in this population it appears that oral symptoms and family well-being outweighed functional limitations and emotional well-being. These findings are not altogether surprising considering that many children in this population already have other significant functional limitations beyond the oral cavity that parents may be more focused on. Also, because of limited cognitive abilities, many of the children may not be able to sufficiently express emotions to their parent/caregiver. It is more likely that parents/caregivers would notice obvious oral symptoms such as "bleeding gums" and "bad breath." These correlations seem sensible considering the high prevalence of poor oral hygiene, gingivitis, and periodontitis among children with special health care needs. In regards to parental distress, it was found that feelings of "guilt" accounted for the correlation to the child's oral health, while items of "feeling guilty" and "had less time for yourself or the family" accounted for the correlation to effects of oral health on overall well-being. Figures 2 and 3 illustrate the relationship between the two domains and the health of the child's mouth and their well-being. The higher the mean score for

oral symptoms and parental distress, the worse the parents rated the health of the child's mouth. As mean scores for oral symptoms and parental distress increased, so did the effects of oral health on the child's well-being.

Locker et al also found significant associations with parent-caregiver global ratings of their child's oral health and overall well-being.¹² The aim of their study was to develop and evaluate the Family Impact Scale, a measure of the family impact of child oral and oro-facial disorders.¹² This formed one component of the COHRQoL instrument. The Family Impact Scale was found to have good construct validity as well as excellent internal consistency reliability. The study also provided some data concerning the nature and extent of family impact resulting from oral and oro-facial conditions in children.¹² Their findings showed that almost three-quarters of the parents/caregivers reported frequent family impact in the previous 3 months.¹² The most common family impacts were the child requiring more attention, financial difficulties, taking time off work, parents feeling guilty, worried and upset about the child's condition and the child being argumentative.¹² This study population also was not limited to CSHCN and their families, however it does similarly illustrate the pervasive effects that oral and oro-facial conditions can have on the functioning of parents/caregivers as well as the family as a whole.¹²

Finally, the survey items were analyzed to determine if a relationship existed between patient characteristics (gender, age, condition category) and overall oral health and well-being. No relationship was found between any of these characteristics. This was contrary to what was expected for the categories of condition. It was thought that perhaps categories of condition with more functional and cognitive limitations; for example, neurodevelopmental/ genetic/ neuromuscular disorders as well as craniofacial conditions might have had a significant relationship with the child's OHQoL and wellbeing.

Study Limitations

One obvious limitation of this study is the fact that the parents/caregivers acted as "proxy raters" for their child. Filstrup et al and Jokovic et al both found that children tended to rate their oral health quality of life as more severe compared to their parents.^{13, 7} Ideally, the views of both the child and the parent should be obtained in order to fully represent the child's oral health-related quality of life.⁷ This was not entirely possible with the population of children being studied due to significant cognitive and functional limitations. Another limitation may have been the sample size (n = 137, 32% survey return rate) as well as the uneven distribution of the children into the categories of condition. A second mailing may have improved the response rate but we were not able to over sample according to certain categories of condition. There also may be some selection bias according to who returned the survey. This study population reports in on average a good overall oral health for children and it is possible that those who suffer from poor oral health or who have lower overall well-being may have not returned the survey.

CONCLUSIONS

This study examined the effects of oral health conditions on general well-being and family life of these children.

- The majority of caregivers surveyed felt that oral health did have an impact on the child's well-being, with the ratings of their child's oral health being fairly high.
- 2. Family caregivers of CSHCN report a variety of oral symptoms, daily life problems, and parental concerns attributable to their child's oral health that impact that child's and family's QOL
- 3. In this population of children with special health care needs, it appears that oral symptoms and family well-being outweighed functional limitations and emotional well-being in impacting oral health quality of life according to parental perceptions.

LITERATURE CITED

Literature Cited

- 1. Casamassimo PE, Seal NS, Ruehs K. General Dentists' Perceptions of Educational Treatment Issues Affecting Access to Care for Children with Special Health Care Needs. J Dent Educ 2004; 68: 23-28.
- 2. Dougherty N, Romer M, Lee RS. Trends in special care training in pediatric dental residencies. J Dent Child 2001; Sept-Dec: 384-87.
- 3. Lewis C, Robertson A, Phelps S. Unmet dental care needs among children with special health care needs: implications for the medical home. Pediatrics 2005; 116: 426-431.
- 4. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Oral Health in America: A Report of the Surgeon General Executive Summary. Rockville, MD: U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, National Institute of Dental and Craniofacial Research, National Institutes of Health, 2000.
- Baens-Ferrer C, Roseman MM, Dumas HM, Haley SM. Parental Perceptions of Oral Health – related Quality of Life for Children with Special Needs: Impact of Oral Rehabilitation Under General Anesthesia. Pediatric Dentistry 2005; 27(2): 137-142.
- 6. Waldman BH, Perlamn SP. Providing general dentistry for people with disabilities: A demographic review. General Dentistry 2000; Sept-Oct: 566-69.
- Jokovic A, Locker D, Stephens M, Guyatt G. Agreement between mothers and children aged 11-14 years in rating child oral health-related quality of life. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2003; 31: 335-43.
- 8. <u>www.careconnections.vcu.edu</u>

- Locker D, Jokovic A, Tompson B. Health-Related Quality of Life Children Aged 11 to 14 Years With Orofacial Conditions. The Cleft Palate-Craniofacial Journal 2005; 42(3): 260-66.
- Jokovic A, Locker D, Tompson B, Guyatt G. Questionnaire for Measuring Oral Health-related Quality of Life in Eight- to Ten-year-old Children. Pediatric Dentistry 2004; 26(6): 512-18.
- 11. Jokovic A, Locker D, Stephens M, Kenny D, Tompson B, Guyatt G. Measuring parental perceptions of child oral health-related quality of life. J Public Health Dent 2003 Spring; 63(2): 67-72.
- 12. Locker D, Jokovic A, Stephens M, Kenny D, Tompson B, Guyatt G. Family impact of child oral and oro-facial conditions. Community Dent Oral Epidemiol 2002; 30: 438-48.
- Filstrup SL, Briskie D, Fonseca M, Lawrence L, Wandera A, Inglehart MR. Early Childhood Caries and Quality of Life: Child and Parent Perspectives. Pediatric Dentistry 2003; 25(5): 431-440.
- 14. Pahel BT, Rozier RG, Slade GD. Parental perceptions of children's oral health: The Early Childhood Oral Health Impact Scale (ECOHIS). Health and Quality of Life Outcomes 2007, 5:6.

APPENDIX A

INSTRUCTIONS TO PARENTS

- 1. This questionnaire is about the effects of <u>oral conditions</u> on children's well-being and everyday life, and the effects on their families. We are interested in <u>any</u> <u>condition that involves teeth, lips, mouth or jaws</u>. Please answer each question.
- 2. To answer the question please put an "x" in the box by the response.
- 3. Please give the response that best describes your child's experience. If the question does <u>not</u> apply to your child, please answer with "Never".

Example:	How often has your child had a hard time paying attention in
	school?

If your child has had a hard time paying attention in school because of problems with his/her teeth, lips, mouth or jaws, choose the appropriate response. If it has happened for other reasons, choose "Never".

Never	Often
Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
Sometimes	Don't know

4. Please **do not discuss the questions with your child, as we** are interested only in the parents' perspective in this questionnaire.

Fair Poor

1. How would you rate the health of your child's teeth, lips, jaws and mouth?

Excellent
Very good
Good

2. How much is your child's overall wellbeing affected by the condition of his/her teeth, lips, jaws or mouth?



may experience due to <u>the condition of their teeth, lips, mouth and jaws.</u>

During the last 3 months, how often has your child had:

3.	Pain in the teeth, lips, jaws or mouth?	
	Excellent	Fair
	Very good	Poor
	Good	Don't know
4.	Bleeding gums?	_
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
=		
Э.		
		Den't know
6.	Bad breath?	
	Never	Often
	Never Once or twice	Often Everyday or almost everyday
	 Never Once or twice Sometimes 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
_	 Never Once or twice Sometimes 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
7.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth?	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
7.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often
7.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never Once or twice 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Everyday or almost everyday
7.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never Once or twice Sometimes 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
7.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never Once or twice Sometimes Food caught in or between the teeth?	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
7. 8.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never Once or twice Sometimes Food caught in or between the teeth? Never 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
7. 8.	 Never Once or twice Sometimes Food stuck in the roof of the mouth? Never Once or twice Sometimes Food caught in or between the teeth? Never Once or twice 	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know Often Often Everyday or almost everyday

9. Difficulty biting or chewing foods such as fresh apple, corn on the cob or firm meat?

cat.	
Never	Often
Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
Sometimes	Don't know
he last 3 months because of his/her teeth	ling mouth or jaws how often has

During the <u>last 3 months</u>, because of his/her <u>teeth</u>, <u>lips</u>, <u>mouth</u>, <u>or jaws</u>, how often has your child:

10.	Breathed through the mouth?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
11	Had trouble slooping?	
11.		
		Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	
12.	Had difficulty saying any words?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
13	Taken longer than others to eat a meal?	
10.	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
		Don't know
	Sometimes	
14.	Had difficulty drinking or eating hot or cold for	ods7
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
15.	Had difficulty eating foods he/she would like to	eat?
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
16	Had diat restricted to cartain types of food (for	avample: soft food)?
10,		Often

Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
Sometimes	Don't know

SECTION 3: The following questions ask about the effects that <u>the condition of</u> <u>children's teeth, lips, mouth and jaws</u> may have on their <u>feelings</u> and <u>everyday activities</u>.

During the <u>last 3 months</u>, because of his/her <u>teeth</u>, <u>lips</u>, <u>mouth</u>, <u>or jaws</u>, how often has your child been:

17.	Upset?	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
18.	Irritable or frustrated?	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know
19.	Anxious or fearful?	 Often Everyday or almost everyday Don't know

SECTION 4: The following questions ask about effects that a <u>child's oral condition</u> may have on <u>PARENTS AND OTHER FAMILY MEMBERS.</u>

During the <u>last 3 months</u>, because of his/her <u>teeth</u>, <u>lips</u>, <u>mouth</u>, <u>or jaws</u>, how often have you or another family member:

20.	Been upset?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
21.	Had sleep disrupted?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
22.	Felt guilty?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
23.	Taken time off work (for example: pain, ap	opointments, surgery)?
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
24.	Had less time for yourself or the family?	
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
25.	Worried that your child will have fewer lif	fe opportunities (for example: for
	dating, getting married, having children, g	getting a job he/she will like)?
	Never	Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know
26.	Felt uncomfortable in public places (e.g. sto	ores, restaurants) with your child?
	Never Never	U Often
	Once or twice	Everyday or almost everyday
	Sometimes	Don't know

Child's	gender	and age	
---------	--------	---------	--

a. Your child is:

Male Female

b. Your child's age is: _____YEARS

c. Your child's special health care condition: ______.

Questionnaire completed by:

Mother
Father
Other

Date completed: _____ / ____ / ____ Day Month Year THANK- YOU FOR YOUR PARTICIPATION!



Item Reduction

Parents (N=137)

26 items (2 child oral heath and well-being items + 7 oral symptom items + 7 functional limitation items +3 child daily and emotional well-being impact items + 7 family impact items)

Other items reported:

- ➢ Child's gender
- ➤ Child's age
- Child's special health care condition
- Caregiver who completed survey (mother, father, other)

Table 1: Description of Subjects

Characteristic	Ν	Percent
Gender		
F	60	44
Μ	77	56
Condition		
Neurodevelopmental/Genetic disorders/Neuromuscular	69	58
Respiratory	13	11
Cardiac Disease	5	4
Craniofacial	14	12
Metabolic	16	13
Psychological	3	3
How would you rate the health child's teeth, lips, jaws and me Excellent Very good Good Fair Poor	n of yo outh? 19 26 47 34 10	our 14 19 35 25 7
How much is your child's over	rall we	ellbeing
affected by the condition of hi	s/her	teeth,
Not at all	42	31
Very little	22	16
Some	37	27
A lot	21	15
Very much	14	10

Table 2: Item Summary

Number (Percent)							
	Once or	Some-	,	Every-	Don't		
Question Never	twice	times	Often	day	Know	Mean	SD
Oral Symptoms							
Pain in the teeth, lips	, jaws or m	outh?					
58 (44)	23 (17)	30 (23)	4 (3)	3 (2)	15 (11)	1.91	1.05
Bleeding gums?		()	()		. ,		
86 (63)	19 (14)	21 (15)	2 (1)	6 (4)	2 (1)	1.68	1.08
Sores in the mouth?	()	()	()	()	()		
103 (75)	15 (11)	14 (10)	1 (1)	0 (0)	4 (3)	1.35	0.70
Bad breath?	,	()	. (.)	- (-)	. (-)		
36 (26)	24 (18)	41 (30)	21 (15)	15 (11)	0 (0)	2.67	1.31
Food stuck in the roo	of the mo	outh?	_ (,		- (-)		
89 (66)	14 (10)	18 (13)	3(2)	3(2)	8 (6)	1 56	0.98
Food caught in or be	tween the t	eeth?	0 (=)	0 (_)	0 (0)		0.00
1 000 000g/m m 01 00 14 (32)	27 (20)	51 (38)	9 (7)	3 (2)	2 (1)	2 25	1.06
Difficulty biting or che	27 (20)	s such as f	resh annle	$\frac{3}{2}$	$\frac{2}{1}$	Z.ZU	+2
	12 (Q)	20 (15)	10 (8)	16 (12)		2 11	1/6
Functional Limitation	12 (9)	20 (15)	10 (8)	10(12)	4 (3)	Z.14	1.40
Proothod through the	mouth?						
	; mouth?	20 (24)	22(16)	10 (12)	10 (7)	2 50	1 5 0
Used travels also arises	4 (S)	29 (21)	22 (16)	10 (13)	10(7)	2.59	1.52
Had trouble sleeping	(00 (40)	2(0)		4 (4)	4 00	
91 (00)	13 (9)	22 (10)	3 (2)	7 (5)	1(1)	1.69	1.14
Had difficulty saying	any words?			00 (40)	o (7)	0.07	
67 (52)	7 (5)	17 (13)	7 (5)	23 (18)	9(7)	2.27	1.61
I aken longer than ot	hers to eat	a meal?		/	- (-)		
64 (49)	12 (9)	21 (16)	10 (8)	20 (15)	3 (2)	2.29	1.53
Had difficulty drinking	g or eating l	hot or cold	foods?				
82 (63)	14 (11)	17 (13)	4 (3)	13 (10)	1 (1)	1.86	1.33
Had difficulty eating f	oods he/sh	ne would li	ke to eat?				
86 (65)	9 (7)	17 (13)	8 (6)	9 (7)	3 (2)	1.80	1.28
Had diet restricted to	certain typ	es of food	(for exam	ple: soft fo	od)?		
93 (73)	4 (3)	5 (4)	3 (2)	20 (16)	3 (2)	1.82	1.52
Emotional Wellbein	g						
Upset?							
73 (54)	17 (13)	31 (23)	6 (4)	3 (2)	6 (4)	1.84	1.08
Irritable or frustrated	?						
72 (53)	23 (17)	24 (18)	7 (5)	2 (1)	7 (5)	1.78	1.03
Anxious or fearful?							
98 (73)	9 (7)	13 (10)	3 (2)	0 (0)	11 (8)	1.36	0.77
Parental Distress an	nd Family	Function					
Been upset?							
73 (54)	20 (15)	34 (25)	3 (2)	1 (1)	5 (4)	1.77	0.97
Had sleep disrupted?	>	()	()		. ,		
101 (74)	9 (7)	16 (12)	1 (1)	5 (4)	4 (3)	1.48	1.00
Felt quilty?	- ()	- ()	()	- ()	(-)	-	
89 (66)	6 (4)	25 (19)	7 (5)	4 (3)	4 (3)	1 71	1 13
Taken time off work (for example: pain appointments surgery)?							
87 (64)	19 (14)	20 (15)	6 (4)	2 (1)	,. 1 (1)	1.63	0 99
Had less time for you	urself or the	$\frac{20(10)}{10}$	0(4)	2(1)	1 (1)	1.00	0.00
100 /74	יוספון טו נוופ 2 <i>(</i> כ <i>י</i>)	1/ (10)	0 (7)	8 (6)	1 (1)	1 67	1 25
Worright that your shi	ے) د مربط النہ ال	fower life	σ (1) C	(0) 0 ioc2	i (i)	1.07	1.20
				100 (40)	E (A)	2 00	1 40
δ3 (62)	5 (4) 	15(11)	10 (7)	10 (12)	5 (4)	∠.00	1.48
reit uncomfortable in	public plac	ues (e.g. s	iores, resta	aurants) W	In your ch		0.00
110 (81)	10(7)	9(7)	5 (4)	1 (1)	1 (1)	1.35	0.82

Table 3: Summary of Domain Scores

Emotional Wellbeing

Domain	Ν	Mean	SD
Oral Symptoms	137	1.96	0.71
Functional Limitations	137	2.06	1.06
Emotional Wellbeing	133	1.71	0.93
Parental Distress and Family Function	137	1.65	0.78
Correlations		Domain	
Domain	Symptoms	Limitations	Wellbeing
Functional Limitations	0.54		

0.52

0.52

0.73

Parental Distress & Family Function	0.53

0.68

Figure 2: Relationship between Overall Health of Child's Mouth and Two Domains

		Mean	
			Parental
			Distress and
Health of child's		Oral	Family
mouth	n	Symptoms	Function
Excellent	19	1.62	1.29
Very Good	26	1.72	1.35
Good	47	1.93	1.68
Fair	34	2.09	1.78
Poor	10	2.98	2.56



Health of Child's ... Mouth

		Mean		
			Parental	
			Distress and	
Wellbeing affected by		Oral	Family	
mouth	n	Symptoms	Function	
Not at all	42	1.56	1.22	
Very little	22	1.83	1.67	
Some	37	2.27	1.85	
A lot	21	2.09	1.81	
Very much	14	2.37	2.14	

Figure 3: Relationship between Well-being and Two Domains





Kristin Elizabeth Nelson was born on April 7, 1979 in Indiana, Pennsylvania. She graduated from Sayre School, Lexington, Kentucky, 1997. She attended Denison University in Granville, Ohio. She received her Bachelor of Science in Biology and French, 2001. Dr. Nelson received her Doctor of Dental Medicine from University of Kentucky, Lexington, Kentucky, in 2005.